↓ Supreme Court No. 94195-5 Court of Appeals No. 32113-4-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

LUIS A. AVILA.

Appellant/Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LUIS A. AVILA, #369547 Airway Heights Corrections Center P.O. Box 2049 (Unit N Tier A/11) Airway Heights, WA 99001-2049

#

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Patitioner, Luis A. Avila, hereby requests review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Section II below.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Petitioner, Luis A. Avila, seeks review of the Unpublished opinion in the Court of Appeals, Division III, case <u>State v. Avila</u>, No. 32113-4-III, filed on July 14, 2016. A motion for Reconsideration was filed in the Court of Appeals on December 20, 2106 and denied on January 24, 2017.

A copy of the unpublished opinion and the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration are attached as Appendix A.

# III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Washington 's Criminal Justice System provides no recognizable protection to non-English speaking persons outside of formal legal proceedings. This Petition presents fundamental questions concerned with the process due to Luis A. Avila, a non-English speaking individual. Public importance is implicated by the issues raised here because this Court needs to settle what protections our State will afford persons public policy has long considered to be impaired. RCW 2.42.110. Because the equal right to due process is guaranteed--irrespective of national origin--

under both state and federal constitution, the issues in this case are:

- 1. Was the Court of Appeals, Division III, constitutionally obligated to provide a complete review of the questions raised by Petitioner in his direct appeal? Did the Court of Appeals violate those principles when it conducted a truncated review after it narrowed the legal issues presented by the due process violation argued in the Court below? RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).
- 2. The Court of Appeals decision, in effect, holds that the fundamental principles enunciated in <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 348 U.S. 436 (1966) are inapplicable to outside of custodial statements. Does the Court of Appeals decision warrant review because it constitutes error within the meaning of RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4)?
- 3. Should this Court grant review and provide guidance on this unsettled question of significant public interest?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As alleged in the Brief of Appellant, which sets out facts and law relevant to this Petition and are hereby incorporated by this reference, Avila was convicted of second degree rape. On appeal Avila argued, in part, that the trial Court violated his Fourteenth (14) Amendment right to due

process by admitting his statements which were involuntarily made. Division III, while agreeing that due process prohibits the admissions of involuntary statements, the Court found Avila's statements to be voluntary under the rationals that the principles of Miranda v. Arizona are inapplicable outside of a custodial setting. The Court ended its analysis there. As a consequence, the Court did not accomplish a complete review of the issues raised on appeal. Avila now seeks review.

## V. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

As discussed below, the proceedings involving the Petitioner were fundamentally unfair. Mr. Avila is a Spanish Speaking Guatemalan immigrant with marginal education and who speaks in broken English. RP 301-302. He was put in the untenable position of being subjected to an interrogation that occurred in English. Law enforcement was sware of Avila's language barrier at the time of the interrogation. Yet, no party privy to the proceedings inquired whether Avila needed an interpreter nor was one provided. The Trial Court's ruling did not account for this disparity in spite of the Court finding Avila was in need of an advisor/mediator. RP 56-57; CP 98-100. Indeed, this same judge appointed Avila an interpreter for the trial and the CrR 3.5 hearing.

The central issue raised on appeal was whether Avila's

statements to Detective Nichols were voluntarily made. A Majority of the Court of Appeals, in effect, held that no due process violation will be found absent direct evidence of custody. In focussing exclusively on the custodial espects of the statements the Court ignores the possibility that the statements may still be involuntary irrespective of their nature. In so ruling, the Court did not resolve the questions raised on appeal.

The Majority overlooked that non-custodial statements "must still be suppressed, even absent a <u>Miranda</u> violation, where the totality of the circumstances demonstrate that" they were involuntarily made. <u>Deweaver v. Runnels</u>, 556 F.3d 995, 1002-1003 (2009). Instead of evaluating the totality of the circumstances, the scope of review was limited to Mr. Avila's custodial status.

Additionally, in resolving the custodial aspects of this claim, the Majority did not take into account the impact Avila's language barrier and cultural differences had on his ability on his comprehension and perception. Instead, the Court resolved this matter as if Avila was a native born American cultured in American politics.

Petitioner respectfully submits that review should be accepted because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with other decisions of this Court, the U.S. Supreme

conflict with other decisions of this Court, the U.S. Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). This Petition also presents significant questions of constitutional law, inviting clarification and guidance from this Court to settle this question of significant public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

# A. THE COURT OF APPEALS APPLIED THE WRONG STANDARD TO ASSESS THE VOLUNTARINESS OF AVILA'S STATEMENTS

# 1. The Court of Appeals Applied the Wrong Test and Violated Avila's Constitutional Right to A Complete Review.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals recognizes that due process protects the individual from involuntary and/or false confession but failes to apply that understanding in its review of this case. Instead, the majority reasoned that due process is not implicated absent direct evidence of custody. Opinion at 9-14. This rationals is contrary to the standard established by the Ninth Circuit and the United States Supreme Court which are the same standards found in Washington law.

In <u>Preston</u>, the Ninth Circuit explains that the test for determining voluntariness of "custodial" statements is the same test used to evaluate the voluntariness of non-

custodial statements. <u>U.S. v. Preston</u>, 751 F.3d 1008, 1015 n.11 (9th Cir. 2014). In other words, the voluntariness of a statement does not necessarily turn on the custodial status of the suspect. 751 F.3d at 1016; <u>Beckwith v. United States</u>, 425 U.S. 341, 348 (1970). Rather, such an inquiry must focus on the nature of the interrogation and the particular circumstances of the "suspect not in custody." 751 f.3d 1016, n.16; <u>Dickerson v. United States</u>, 530 U.S. 428, 434 (2000); see also <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436 n.24 (1966).

In this case, the majority did not carefully acrutinize the facts to determine whether Avila's "outside of custodial" statements were the product of a "free and rational will."

Doody v. Ryan, 649 F.3d 986, 1023 (9th Cir. 2011) (quoting Scheckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218 (1973). Instead, the Court of Appeals found no due process violation because Avila failed to establish that the interrogation was custodial, which the Majority believed was dispositive to a voluntariness inquiry.

while the Court of Appeals finds Avila's statements were not custodial, the Court avoided complete review on whether the non-custodial statements were nonetheless involuntary. The Court's effort to assess out of custody statements under Miranda is the wrong legal standard. State v. Lamb, 163 bln.App. 614, 625 (2011). This opinion does not resolve the

questions raised on appeal about whether Avila's statements were voluntary. As discussed above, the context in which the statements were made does not settle a 14th amendment violation of Avila's rights.

# 2. The Majority Reached the Wrong Decision By Incorrectly Deferring to the Trial Court's Findings of Fact

When the court applies the wrong legal standard, it has abused its discretion. State v. Rorich, 149 Wn.2d. 647, 654 (2003). Likewise, a Judge's findings that are based on a misapprehension and/or erroneous application of law, the findings are not entitled to deference. In re Marriage of Little Field, 133 Wn.2d 37, 47 (1997); State v. W.R., 181 Wn.2d 757, 770 (2014). A judge's findings are also not deferred to when they are not supported by evidence. 133 Wn.2d at 47.

On review, the majority affirmed the Trial Court's conclusions that Avila's statements were voluntary based on the trial Court's findings of fact. The trial Court's findings, however, had only minimal relevance to this issue because they neither addressed nor resolved whether Avila's out-of-custody statements should have been excluded as involuntary. The court misapplied the law when looking at the threshold question of law enforcement's obligation to obtain

statements voluntarily in spite of custodial status. <u>Preston</u>, 751 F.3d at 1015-101; <u>Deweaver</u>, 556 F.3d at 1020-1023; <u>Dood</u>, 649 F.3d at 1023; <u>Dickerson</u>, 530 U.S. at 413.

As praviously discussed, the Trial Court applied the wrong legal standard to assess the voluntariness of Avila's out-of-custody statements. First, the Court found that Avila was out-of-custody and that law enforcement was under no obligation to Mirandize Avila. Opinion at 9-14. This ignores law enforcement's inescapable obligation to obtain statements voluntarily. irrespective of Miranda. The trial Court incorrectly viewed the question strictly as a Miranda violation, not whather the statements should be suppressed because the totality of the circumstances show that the voluntary established etatementa were not under the standarda. Deweaver, 556 f.3d at 1002-1003.

Second, in only examining whether there was evidence of an actual Miranda violation, the Trial Court did not weigh Avila's language barrier, cultural differences, marginal education and his broken English (RP 25-43) against the college educated Detective Nichols who was trained in investigation techniques. RP 10, 19. The Trial Court did not enter any findings of fact on these factors. Consequently, the record was devoid of any factual basis from which to defer to in assessing whether this imbalance produced an

involuntary and/or false confession. Ryan, 649 F.3d at 1016 (court's must weigh, not list, relevant circumstances).

The Trial Court made no effort to assess Avila's vantage point in the context of his cultural background and language barrier. Instead, the Court only considered Detective Nichola perspective in evaluating the voluntariness statements. RP 56-58; CP 98-100. These findings do nothing to inform the record as to Avila's perspective because Detective Nichols is not Avila. The Trial Court's failure to carefully scrutinize Avila's circumstances removed from the record facta pertinent to a determination of whether law enforcement exploited Avila's impairments to advance a sequencing of questioning designed to confuse and elicit incriminating statements. see U.S. v.Bundy, 966 F.Supp.2d 1180, 1186 n.3 (2013).

Because culture and language were at issue in this case it was improper to focus exclusively on Detective Nichols's testimony to reconstruct the interrogation. As explained by the federal court in <u>Bundy</u>, "there are recognized problems with such testimony, including, 'problems associated with recollection, disperities in perception or preconceived biases,' and statements that have 'equivocal interpretation.' 'People, including officers and suspects, forget facts or reconstruct and interpret them differently." Even more so

"where, as here, the interrogators and suspects are from different cultures." <u>Bundy</u>, 966 f.Supp.2d at 1186 n.3 (quoting Revealing Incommunicado Electronic Recording or Police Interrogations, Vol. 75, No. 12 FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin 1 (dec. 2006)).

Avila's testimony confirms he spoke in monosyllable and that he did not speek in full sentences. RP 25-43. Bundy is applicable to the instant case and demonstrates why it was incumbent upon the Court to verify what the answers and questions were of the interrogation. Sans this, it is impossible to know what exactly Avila was agreeing to or disagreeing to from his perspective. The Court's findings were insufficient to evaluate whether Detective Nichols's conclusions accurately memorialize what Avila actually said, or whether they merely inferred as much from a series of confusing, contradictory and perhaps incomplete statements.

As previously discussed, Avila's conduct during the interrogation was relevant to a determination of whether the statements were voluntarily made. The record lacks sufficient findings to know whether Avila volunteered details of his experience, or whether he unwittingly acquiesced to a fact pattern embedded within questions as part of Detactive Nichola's minimizing techniques. The Court's findings provide no insight on this question. Whether Avila answered the

questions directly or heltingly was imperative to understanding Avila's comprehension and confusion.

Finally, trial testimony confirms that the interrogation conducted entirely in English. Detective wee testified that she was sware of Avila's language barrier and cultural differences prior to the interrogetion. RP 17. Avila's testimony indicates that he did not understand that the interrogation was optional and the he would have preferred an attorney present but did not believe he--"an innocent person"--was entitled to one. RP 25-43. Avila stated unequivocally that he was in fear of being arrested due to hie outstanding immigration werrant and his unlawfully employment. Id. The Trial Court discounted all of this on the basis of Detective Nichols's impressions and the Judge's opinion that Sharee Kromrei was Avila's advocate/mediator.

The Court of Appeals decision finds that "no information suggest" that Ms. Kromrei was "qualified" to assist Avila. Opinion at 13. Nevertheless, the Majority upholds the Trial Court's conclusions of voluntariness in spite of the fact that it was based, in pert, on Ms. Kromrei acting as an advocate/mediator. RP 56-57; CP 98-100 (Finding of Fact No. 5): Ramo-Chaves, 681 F.3d 995, 960 U.S. v. (2012)(qualification is a question of fact). The trial Court did not enter any findings of fact with respect to Detective

		•
	and the control of th	
		•
		,
•		•
	·	

Nichola's or Ma. Kromrei's level of comprehension of either the Spanish language or the Guatemelan culture. In this context, there is nothing to defer to and the ruling is factually incorrect. The Detective's perspective and Ma. Kromrei's presence is meaningless and speaks nothing to Avila's comprehension or confusion. 133 Wn.2d at 47.

Deference to the Trial Court's assessment of the voluntariness of Avila's statements would have been proper had the Court used the correct legal frame work and closely acrutinize the totality of the circumstances to make necessary findings. No deference was appropriate here because on remand the Court narrowed the CrR 3.5 hearing to actual custody, misapprehended the facts, and did not decide whether Avila's statements—irrespective of custody—were voluntary.

Little Field, 133 Wn.2d at 47; W.R. 181 Wn.2d at 770; see also U.S. v. Thorton, 1 F.2d 149, 158-159 (1993).

Because the opinion defers to the Trial Court's findings it is also fectually incorrect, based on the wrong legal standard and an erroneous view of the law; leaving unresolved the question raised on appeal.

# 3. The State Did Not Prove that Avila's Statements Were Voluntarily Made

Once Avila challenged the admissibility of his statements, the State had the burden to prove that its

v. Tomey, 404 U.S. 477, 485 (1992); U.S. v. Williams, 435 F.3d 1148, 1153 n.3 (9th Cir. 2003). As Such, the State was required to demonstrate that the totality of the circumstances prove the statements were not obtained by means of coercion or improper inducement such that Avila's will was overborne. Scheckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226-27 (1973). The State failed to meet its burden in this case.

In the context of language barriers and cultural differences, subtle details will bear significantly in determining voluntariness. <u>Bundy</u>, 966 F.Supp.2d at 1186; <u>Preston</u>, 751 F.3d at 1016. As discussed above, this is not a case of cultural parity wherein language was not at issue. Instead, Avila's particular circumstances left him without the tools to resist interrogation techniques. The Majority's opinion was not individualized. Instead, the Court relied solely on Detective Nichols's conclusions and memory of the interrogation in reaching its decision.

Even taking Detective Nichols at her word that she viewed her techniques as non-coercive, the record is still absent an objective basis to determine that the interrogation was not perceived as coercive by Avila, whose cultural differences, limited English speaking ability, marginal education and personal background collectively produced a

different experience. Detective Nichols made the conscious decision not to record the interrogation. As a consequence, the Trial Court's conclusion did not account for Avile's characteristics because the State did not provide evidence of the actual words, actions and context necessary to evaluate perception and experience. Doody, 649 F.3d at 1002.

While not required to record the state พอต interrogation, it "bears the consequence in such cases as the present case where the " actual answers and questions of the interrogation pertinent to determination are æ of voluntariness. Bundy, 966 F.2d at 1188. Detective Nichols's decision to remove objective evidence Avila's voluntariness is within the "totality of the circumstances." Mills v. Vasquez, 868 F.2d 1116, 1119-1120 (1987).

It is important to emphasize that Avila is not disputing that "suppression is not warranted because the government fails to record the interview," <u>U.S. v. Ramo-Chavez</u>, 681 F.3d 955, 961 (9th Cir. 2012), this case was about whether the evidence presented was incomplete and perhaps subconsciously biased. Detective Nichols failed to use equipment that was at here disposal which would have accurately depicted the context and details necessary to assess Avila's perception and level of confusion.

Moreover, the conflicting testimony regarding the

interrogation supports the "larger inference that [Detective Nichols's] account did not accurately portray the circumstances surrounding [Mr. Avila's] statements." <u>U.S. v. Wright</u>, 625 F.3d 538, 684 n.16 (9th Cir. 2011); <u>U.S. v. Yunis</u>, 589 F.2d 753, 961 (1988). The Opening Brief and this Petition identified Detective Nichols's conduct that one could reasonable conclude was exploitive and/or coercive; the record supports the same.

Thus, the State has failed to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence the voluntariness of Avila Statements. Further, without a clear record it is impossible to ascertain exactly what Avila was agreeing or disagreeing to. In other words, whether Avila provided a false statement as a result of his confusion and perception of the questions.

### 4. This Court Should Grant Review

The Court of Appeals decision should be reviewed because it ignores the possibility that Avila's statement may still involuntary irrespective ロf custodial etetue. The majority--like the Trial Court--required Avila to affirmatively prove that he was in custody at the time the statements were made in order to substantiate a violation of his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process. This decision is contrary to established standards.

This Court should grant review to resolve this conflict which plainly collides with controlling authority interpreting key constitutional principles essential to a fair trial. The error palpably undermines the practical and structural concerns underlying Miranda and its progeny.

Although the opinion is unpublished, it is likely to lead to confusion or other erroneous application of similar cases that will ultimately fall within Division III's purview. It may also embolden law enforcement—within Division III's jurisdiction—to take advantage of immigrants because the Majority's decision signals that non-English speaking persons are not protected outside of a legal proceeding. Such persons would never be entitled to reversal—irrespective of how agregious law enforcement acts—so long as they are not involved in a formal legal proceeding and can not prove custody.

It is difficult to conceive of any scenario under which such circumstances would not undermine the public's perception of fairness in Washington's Criminal Justice System.

# B. THIS PETITION INVOLVES ISSUES OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this Court will accept review "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public

interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." The issues presented in this petition are of substantial public interest because it involves the fundamental rights of undocumented individuals. Washington's public policy has long recognized language barriers as an impairment necessitating additional safeguards. RCW 2.42.010; RCW 2.43.010. The public importance implicated by the issues raised here are sweeping because it addresses what protections our system will afford this class of people.

Washington Courts that have addressed this issue have limited these protections to legal proceedings with limited exceptions. State v. Prok, 107 Wn.2d 153 (1986); State v. Morales, 173 Wn.2d 560 (2012). These exceptions have been limited to cases of mendatory blood draws. The underlying rationals of these decisions is that due process protections extend to the manner in which evidence is gathered and collected.

Mr. Avila is an impaired person within the meaning of RCW 2.42.110. Detective Nichola's did not make a good faith effort to secure Avila's rights before obtaining evidence that was used against him in a legal proceeding. The Court of Appeals decision stands for the proposition that impaired persons are only entitled to protections after the State has exploited their language barrier to elicit incriminating

statements. It is difficult to reconcile this proposition with constitutional principles and the public policy of this State.

In the same manner that <u>Morales</u> and <u>Prok</u> extends the protections found in RCW 2.42 et.seq to evidence that could potentially be used in a future legal proceeding, this Court should hold that those protections also extend to interrogations of non-English speaking individuals.

# V. CONCLUSIONS

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should grant review.