FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/2/2017 4:13 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 94195-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent v. LUIS A. AVILA, Appellant/Petitioner. RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BENJAMIN C. NICHOLS Asotin County Prosecuting Attorney WSBA# 23006

P. O. Box 220 Asotin, Washington 99402 (509) 243-2061

1. <u>IDENTITY OF RESPONDING PARTY</u>

State of Washington, Respondent, through its attorney of record, Benjamin C. Nichols, Prosecuting Attorney for Asotin County.

2. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT

An order denying Motion for Discretionary Review and affirming the decision of Division III of the Court of Appeals as set forth in the Unpublished Opinion No# 32113-4-III, filed July 14, 2016.

3. SUMMARY OF ISSUES PRESENTED

The Rules of Appellate Procedure limit the acceptance of petitions for discretionary review to the following situations:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Rules of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b). None of these situations exist in the present case. The Petitioner does not even attempt to identify any conflict between the Court of Appeals decision in this case and any other decision

of any other court. As for constitutional issues or substantial public interest, despite efforts to cast his claims in that regard, a review of the actual record and true facts of this case demonstrate that there are no such issues in the case now at bar.

The Petitioner asserts that the proceedings below were "fundamentally unfair" and that the Court of Appeals failed to properly consider his particular circumstances and apply the proper analysis based thereon. The Petitioner premises his arguments on a flawed and inaccurate statement of the facts and of the case. He urges this Court to re-write the plain language of statutes involving non-English speaking persons and to abrogate prior case law. Based upon the actual facts of this case, as found by the trial court and confirmed by the Court of Appeals, and based upon the clear dictates of the statutes and the prior applicable case law, this Court should not accept review of this case.

4. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF AND ARGUMENT

The Petitioner's request for review is based upon assertions of fact which are not supported by the record and are contrary to the express findings of the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals. Primary among these is the Petitioner's repeated assertion that he is: "a non-English speaking individual" "who speaks in broken English" "marginal education and his broken English" "limited English speaking ability, marginal education" and

is "non-English speaking."" <u>Petition for Review</u>, page 1, page 3, page 8, page 14, and page 17 *respectively*.

In fact, both the trial court and the Court of Appeals found that based upon the record this particular claim is unfounded:

Mr. Avila makes a number of arguments as to why a person in his position would not believe he had a right to leave the interview with Detective Nichols. First, he argues he has limited English comprehension and nothing is known about his However, though Mr. Avila is Guatemalan, education. Detective Nichols testified he appeared to understand her questions and that his answers to the questions were appropriate. Moreover, Mr. Avila prepared a written statement that he read to the court at the CrR 3.5 hearing that demonstrated his high level of English proficiency. His ability to understand sophisticated legal concepts is also demonstrated by his first statement of additional grounds for review (SAG). There is strong evidence that Mr. Avila had a sufficient grasp of English to understand that his participation in the interview was not compulsory.

Moreover, his experience with the legal system is some evidence that he was aware of what a custodial law enforcement environment looks like. He was arrested twice in 2006, twice in 2007, and once in both 2008 and 2010. The trial court could reasonably consider whether, after six arrests, Mr. Avila had enough experience to understand that the interview with Detective Nichols was not a custodial interrogation.

State v. Avila, 2016 Wash. App. LEXIS 1622, 13-14 (Wash. Ct. App., Div. III, July 14, 2016) (*emphasis added*). The assertion that the Petitioner does not speak or understand English is utterly contrary to the record and should not serve as justification for review herein.

A second fundamental factual flaw to the Petitioner's position concerns the very nature of the statement he calls into question herein. The

Petitioner was interviewed during the investigatory phase of this case by Detective Jackie Nichols. <u>Id</u>. at page 2. During that interview the Petitioner completely denied all of the allegations and stated that he had never been in the bathroom with the victim. <u>Report of Proceedings</u>, pages 59 - 60 (hereinafter RP 59 - 60). When specifically asked about bodily fluids the detective testified that he again denied the possibility:

And so to be sure that he understood what I meant, I said, no I mean inside her body, inside her vagina, is there any reason that your DNA would be inside of her? And he said, no.

<u>Id</u>. at page 60. At trial the Petitioner testified inconsistently to this statement. In an effort to explain why his semen was identified on the vaginal swabs of the victim, he testified that on the night in question, after an amorous encounter with his girlfriend, he went into the victim's bathroom and masturbated to the point of ejaculation. RP 325 - 327. He stated that he ejaculated onto the toilet seat and then left. RP 327.

When he was asked by his trial attorney why he did not tell the detective about this chain of events during the interview he did not claim confusion or the result of a "language barrier." He did not assert that he was unable to understand her questions. He never even intimated that the statement made to the detective was involuntary, compelled, or the result of any perceived or real pressure. He did not attribute the discrepancy to "cultural differences" or ascribe it to his prior experience with law enforcement or authorities in any country.

The Petitioner testified that his in-court testimony differed from his statement because he was embarrassed to talk about masturbating:

No, because still true today I'm feeling embarrassing about that, so that why I didn't mention anything to her about that, in anyway.

RP page 330. At trial the jury found the Petitioner's explanation for the presence of his DNA inside the victim's vagina to be less plausible than the victim's account of a rape, and convicted him.

It appears, having failed to convince the finder of fact below that his denial was the result of embarrassment, the Petitioner has abandoned this explanation and now attributes it - without any evidence in the record and contrary to his own sworn testimony - to the coercive police conduct. This Court should not accept review in this case based upon inaccurate and duplicitous arguments.

Yet another factual misrepresentation by the Petitioner concerns the absence of a taped record of the interview. The Petitioner makes the following assertions concerning the lack of a tape of the interview:

Detective Nichols made the conscious decision not to record the interrogation.

And: Detective Nichols's [sic] decision to remove objective evidence to Avila's voluntariness is within the totality of circumstances.

And: Detective Nichols failed to use equipment that was at here [sic] disposal which would have accurately depicted the context and details necessary to assess Avila's perception and level of confusion.

Petition, page 15. The true fact, as found by both the trial court and the Court of Appeals, is that prior to the interview Detective Nichols asked the Petitioner if he would consent to a recording. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order on 3.5 Hearing, page 4 of 5, State v. Avila, supra at page 8. The Petitioner, after discussing this with a friend that he had brought with him to the interview, asked that the detective not record it. *Id*.

It must be noted that this particular fact was relied upon by both the trial court and the Court of Appeals in their consideration that the statement was not the product of custodial interrogation. For the Petitioner to now argue that the detective's compliance with the requirements of the law (Two Party Consent - RCW 9.73.030) and the Petitioner's own request, was actually "exploitive and/or coercive" verges on the outrageous. The law requires consent, the Petitioner declined to give consent. The detective complied and is now accused of misconduct. This Court should not accept review premised on this irresponsible, inaccurate, and offensive accusation.

Finally, the Petitioner's assertion that he is an "impaired person" pursuant to RCW 2.42.120 is contrary to the law. RCW 2.42 addresses the considerations for persons who have a "hearing or speech impairment. RCW 2.43 addresses the considerations for "non-English speaking persons." Pursuant to RCW 2.43.030 the law requires appointment of an interpreter only in the course of "legal proceedings." RCW 2.43.020(3) defines "legal proceeding" as follows:

"Legal proceeding" means a proceeding in any court in this state, grand jury hearing, or hearing before an inquiry judge, or before an administrative board, commission, agency, or licensing body of the state or any political subdivision thereof.

Police interviews do not fall within the express language of the statute. No case is cited by the Petitioner wherein any court has found that the requirement of an appointed interpreter attaches to a police investigatory interview. This Court should not judicially revise the plain language of the law.

In point of fact, the two cases cited by the Petitioner for "underlying rationale" for his efforts to judicially reinterpret the law do not support his position. In <u>State v. Prok</u>, (<u>Petition</u>, pages 18 - 19) the Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals and the trial court and found that failure to provide an explanation in "words easily understood" by the defendant did not apply until the defendant was "had not yet been formally charged, nor had he been taken before a committing magistrate." <u>State v. Prok</u>, 107 Wn.2d 153, 156, 727 P.2d 652, 654 (1986). Rather than providing even subtle support for the Petitioner's position herein, it is completely to the contrary.

The other case cited by the Petitioner <u>State v. Morales</u> (<u>Petition</u>, <u>pages 18 - 19</u>) is easily distinguished from the present case. In <u>Morales</u>, the Supreme Court expressly limited their holding to situations where an individual is arrested for impaired driving offenses. <u>State v. Morales</u>, 173 Wn.2d 560, 571, 269 P.3d 263, 269-270 (2012). Ultimately, the <u>Morales</u> Court held that failure to advise the defendant of a statutory right, "in a

meaningful manner," would not meet the requirements of the implied consent law. In the present case it is clear that there were no "statutory rights" at issue, and based upon the findings of both the trial court and the Court of Appeals, the Petitioner's Miranda rights were not at issue. Morales MIGHT provide at least a bit of support IF the situation had required that the detective advise the Petitioner of his Miranda rights, AND IF she had not done so "in a meaningful manner." But this is not the case. This Court should not accept review of this case in order to create a requirement not found in the law.

5. CONCLUSION

This case should not be subject to discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter and any other decision of any other court. There are no constitutional issues identified that would call for review. The "significant public interest" asserted by the Petitioner is illusory at best, disingenuous at worst, and contrary by well-settled law.

Contrary to the Petitioner assertions, he received a fair trial and was convicted upon admissible evidence. He was afforded the due process required by the State and Federal Constitutions and the laws of this State and court rules. The Court of Appeals properly applied the applicable law to the actual facts of this case and rendered a proper decision thereupon. The

Petitioner's efforts to create an inaccurate version of events should not be allowed to cloud the issues herein. The relevant law is clear and does not require interpretation or judicial "re-writing."

Based upon the actual facts of this case, as found by the trial court and confirmed by the Court of Appeals, and based upon the clear dictates of the statutes and the prior applicable case law, this Court should not accept review of this case.